Drug-Induced Diseases

Section IV: Drug-Induced Psychiatric Diseases Chapter 18: Depression

Sheila Botts and Melody Ryan

Depression is one of the most common psychiatric illnesses, and it may interfere significantly with a patient's daily functioning and quality of life. Untreated depression is associated with substantial morbidity and increases the risk of suicide and death. An estimated 15% of mood disorders end in suicide. Depression is a biologic illness with an unknown cause. Depression occurring secondary to medications is similar in presentation to endogenous depression and carries similar risks of morbidity and mortality. While the overall prevalence is unknown, drug-induced depression poses a significant challenge for practitioners, as it may undermine the effectiveness of much-needed treatment. The risk of treatment-emergent suicidality (e.g., suicidal ideation and behavior) has more recently been characterized independently, although it often occurs with mood changes and poses significant risks to the patient.

Contents

CAUSATIVE AGENTS	1
EPIDEMIOLOGY	3
MECHANISMS	9
CLINICAL PRESENTATION AND DIFFERENTIAL DIAGNOSIS	11
RISK FACTORS	12
MORBIDITY AND MORTALITY	14
PREVENTION	15
MANAGEMENT	15
INFORMATION FOR PATIENTS	17
REFERENCES	17

CAUSATIVE AGENTS

Depression has been associated with many drugs, including antiinfective agents, cardiovascular agents, central nervous system (CNS) drugs, dermatologic agents, hormonal treatments, and immunologic and chemotherapeutic drugs. The *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*, 4th edition, Text Revision (DSM-IV-TR)¹ defines substance-induced depression as a prominent and persistent disturbance of mood that occurs during use of a

medication causally related to depression, or within 1 month of intoxication or withdrawal of therapy with a medication. Symptoms must be severe enough to result in clinically significant distress in social, occupational, or other areas of functioning. The clinical features of substance-induced depression may be similar to those of major depressive disorder (MDD), but do not have to meet full diagnostic criteria. In the evaluative literature, depression may be characterized as a specific symptom (i.e., depressed mood), or a cluster of depressive symptoms, or as a diagnostic entity (MDD), though the latter is less common. For the purposes of this chapter, depression is defined as the presence of any one of these three characterizations severe enough to cause a disruption in daily function. Suicide and suicidality are often associated with depression. Suicidality associated with antidepressants, antipsychotics, and anticonvulsants is defined as suicidal thoughts or behaviors or suicide.

All drugs associated with inducing depression for which evaluative support is available in the literature are reviewed in this chapter. The literature supporting an association of drugs with depression is largely comprised of case reports, postmarketing surveillance and retrospective observational studies, making the case for causality difficult. There are few prospective, controlled trials with objective assessments of depressive symptoms or diagnostic criteria. When available, these data are discussed for each agent. A list of drugs that have been associated with depression and the estimated incidence for each agent are presented in Table 18–1. 2-120

Table 18-1. Agents Implicated in Drug-Induced Depression		
		Level of
Drug	Incidence	Evidence
ANTIVIRAL AGENTS		
Efavirenz ²⁹	1.6-2.0%	Α
CARDIOVASCULAR AGENTS		
Clonidine ¹⁵	1.5%	С
Guanethidine ¹⁰⁻¹³	1.5%	С
Methyldopa	3.6%	В
Reserpine ¹⁴	7%	В
RETINOIC ACID DERIVATIVES		
Isotretinoin ²⁻⁹	1-5.5%	В
ANTIDEPRESSANTS ^{120,a}	1–4%	Α
ANTICONVULSANTS ^{57,58}		
Levetiracetam ⁶⁵⁻⁶⁷	4%	Α
Phenobarbital ⁶⁰	40%	В
Primadone ⁶¹	70%	В
Phenytoin ^{62,63}	NK	С
Tiagabine ⁶³	3%	Α
Topiramate ⁶⁴	5-10%	Α
Vigabatrin ⁶⁸	12.1%	Α
ANTIMIGRAINE AGENTS		
Triptans ⁷⁶	23.2%	В
ANTIPSYCHOTICS ^{120,a}		
Aripiprazole	NK	С
Quetiapine	NK	С
HORMONAL AGENTS		
Corticosteroids ⁴⁷⁻⁵²	1.3-18%	В
Oral contraceptives ^{45,46}	NK	В
GnRH agonists ³³⁻³⁸	26-54%	В
Tamoxifen ³⁹⁻⁴⁴	1-20%	А

SMOKING CESSATION AGENTS		
Varenicline ^{117,118}	NK	В
IMMUNOLOGIC AGENTS		
Interferon-α ^{79-86,98-100}	13–33%	Α
Interferon-β ⁸⁷⁻⁹⁷	0–33%	Α

GnRH = gonadotropin-releasing hormone; NK = not known.

^a Refers to risk of suicidal ideation when used as antidepressant.

Levels of Evidence Designation Description

- A There is evidence of causality from one or more randomized, controlled clinical trials.
- **B** There is evidence of causality from nonrandomized clinical trials, prospective observational studies, cohort studies, retrospective studies, case-control studies, meta-analyses, and/or postmarketing surveillance studies.
- **C** There is evidence of causality from one or more published case reports or case series.

EPIDEMIOLOGY

The estimated lifetime prevalence of depression in the general population is approximately 17%. Depression occurs at a much higher rate in patients with chronic illnesses, such as diabetes and cardiovascular disease. While many drugs have been associated with depression, few have been adequately studied to identify the risk that they impart above and beyond that normally present in the population of patients with disease.

Several literature sources suggest a possible causal association between isotretinoin and depression. There has been a relatively large number of reports of serious depression (37 cases of suicide and 394 cases of depression between 1982 and 2000) associated with isotretinoin submitted to the Food and Drug Administration (FDA). These reports have documented a temporal relationship between use of the drug and onset or worsening of depression. In addition, cases of positive dechallenge with discontinuation of isotretinoin therapy and initiation of psychiatric treatment and positive rechallenge have been reported.³⁻⁵ A retrospective casecrossover study assessing the risk of depression in patients treated with isotretinoin in Quebec revealed a relative risk of 2.68 (95% confidence interval [CI], 1.10–6.48). Another retrospective study from Saskatchewan and the United Kingdom (U.K.) compared patients treated with isotretinoin to those treated with antibiotics for acne. There was no increased risk of depression or suicide in patients treated with isotretinoin. A prospective, case–control study compared 100 subjects treated with isotretinoin to 100 subjects treated with topical cream or oral antibiotics.⁸ This study used two depression scales and collected information on the severity of acne, social support, stress, and family history as potential confounders. Depression developed in two patients treated with isotretinoin, but the overall difference between the two groups was not statistically significant. 8 Another prospective study administered depression inventories to 33 subjects at various times during isotretinoin treatment. In this study, patients' depression scores improved as their acne improved, although improvements were not statistically significant.⁹ Despite the lack of consensus in the literature, many health care providers prescribe isotretinoin with caution and consider depression a substantial risk associated with this drug.

Antihypertensive agents, including angiotensinconverting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors, β -blockers, calcium-channel blockers, anti-adrenergic agents (e.g., reserpine, methyldopa, guanethidine, and clonidine), and thiazide diuretics have been implicated in causing depression in case reports. With the exception of anti-adrenergic agents and β -blockers, little empirical evidence exists to support this association. Reserpine, methyldopa, and guanethidine increase

patients' risk of depression, but these agents are no longer commonly used. $^{10-14}$ The association between clonidine and depression is supported by case-report data. However, larger evaluative studies suggest that the incidence of depression in patients taking clonidine is similar to that in the general population. 15 The risk of depression associated with β -blocker therapy remains somewhat controversial. In addition to case reports, two epidemiologic studies support an association with depression, but this association was not confirmed in two prospective studies. 16 It has been suggested that true depressive disorders rarely develop in patients treated with β-blockers, but that these patients experience typical β-blocker adverse effects, which leads to misdiagnosis of depression. Studies that have incorporated diagnostic criteria for depressive disorders have failed to identify an association between β-blockers and depression. 20,21

Digoxin also has been associated with depression in case reports and two small prospective studies. ²¹⁻²³ In a community sample, Palinkas reported that elderly women taking digoxin had higher rates of significant depressive symptoms than women not taking digoxin (10.5% vs. 6.5%), although this difference was not statistically significant. ²² In a second study, digoxin exposure was associated with an increased risk of depression in patients with a history of myocardial infarction. ²⁰ Psychiatric adverse effects have been reported in association with most antibiotics, but are still considered relatively rare events. ²¹ Depression has been observed in patients taking fluoroquinolones and the antitubercular agents cycloserine and ethionamide. ²⁵⁻²⁷ These data, however, are limited to case reports, and the overall prevalence is unknown.

Both non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NNRTIs) and protease inhibitors have been associated with depression. The NNRTI efavirenz appears to confer the greatest risk. In over 1,000 patients treated with efavirenz in clinical trials for an average of 1.6 years, severe depression was reported with an incidence of 1.6%, and suicidal ideation occurred in 0.6% of patients. The risk of depression and suicidal ideation increased to 2% in patients with a history of psychiatric disorders. In contrast, a 48-week randomized, controlled trial of patients receiving a protease inhibitor—containing regimen or efavirenz-containing once-daily regimen failed to find a difference in the risk of depression during maintenance treatment. In addition, nevirapine, abacivir, and indinavir have been noted in clinical case reports to cause depression.

The prevalence of drug-induced depression associated with hormonal agents ranges from 1% to 54%. Agents that affect sex-hormone production appear to be associated with significant risks for inducing depression. Gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) agonists induce a profoundly hypoestrogenic state and are associated with significant depressive symptoms in approximately 50% of patients. 33-37 Tamoxifen, an antiestrogenic agent, does not appear to confer the same risk. Depression as an adverse effect of tamoxifen was not supported by early placebo-controlled trials in patients with breast cancer.³⁹ However, several published reports suggest that depression may occur in up to 15% to 20% of tamoxifen-treated patients with breast cancer and that it is often overlooked or erroneously attributed to the illness. 40-42 These reports do not control for confounding factors, such as the effects of the illness, diagnosis, or adverse effects of chemotherapy, and may overestimate the incidence of tamoxifen-induced depression. The Breast Cancer Prevention (P-1) Study of the National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project provided additional controlled data regarding the association between tamoxifen and depression. 43 The P-1 study was a multicenter randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled chemoprevention trial in which a total of 11,064 women were assigned to receive tamoxifen or placebo for 5 years. The frequency of depression, as assessed by the Center for Epidemiological Studies–Depression was similar in both groups during the first 36 months of the trial.⁴³ However, the presence of risk factors at baseline including history of depression, current or previous

treatment with an antidepressant, or extended periods of dysphoric mood (≥12 months) was associated with significant depressive symptoms regardless of treatment arm.⁴⁴

Although depression is the most commonly cited reason for discontinuing therapy with oral contraceptives (OCs), the literature does not contain overwhelming evidence of significant OC-induced depression.⁴⁵ The Royal College of General Practitioners' Oral Contraception Study reported that depression occurred at a rate of 70 per 1,000 person-years in women taking OCs. This is similar to the expected rate of affective disorders in females in the United States (U.S.)-based Epidemiologic Catchment Area studies. Moreover, the rate of depression in women receiving low-dose estrogen (≤35 mcg) was similar to that observed in the control group, suggesting that commonly used low-dose preparations do not carry an increased risk of depression. More recent evaluations have focused on affective changes rather than on identifying a depressive syndrome or disorder. Oinonen and Mazmanian reviewed 13 controlled, prospective studies evaluating affective changes during OC treatment and concluded that women taking OCs have less variability in affect across the menstrual cycle and experience less negative affect during the time of menstruation. does not contain the domain that the properties of the domain that the control group is the domain to the control group is the control group in the control group in the control group is the control group in the control group in the control group is the control group in the control group in the control group is the control group in the control group in the control group is the control group in the control group in the control group is the control group in the control group in the control group is the control group in the control group in the control group is the control group in the control group in the control group is the control group in the

Drugs that affect the hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenal (HPA) axis are associated with depression. Corticosteroids have been associated with significant psychiatric adverse effects, including depression, mania, and psychosis. The occurrence of severe depression in patients taking corticosteroids is supported by case reports. Data from case series, observational studies, and controlled trials also support an association with depression. However, many of these reports fail to quantify the prevalence of significant depressive symptoms. The largest observational study, the Boston Collaborative Drug Surveillance Program, found that severe psychiatric symptoms, including depression, were relatively uncommon (1.3%) in patients without a psychiatric history who were taking low doses of corticosteroids (<40 mg/day prednisone equivalents). However, the incidence increased to 18% in patients taking >80 mg/day prednisone equivalents. A cross-sectional study comparing self-reported depression in steroidusing and non–steroid-using patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease reported significantly higher depression scores in the steroid-using group. Furthermore, in a short-term prospective cohort study of medical inpatients, corticosteroid exposure was associated with a threefold increased risk of incident depressive symptoms.

Several CNS-acting drugs have been associated with depression, including anti-epileptic drugs (AEDs), benzodiazepines, physostigmine, and 5-hydroxytryptophan (HT)₁ agonists (triptans). The AEDs levetiracetam, phenobarbital, primidone, phenytoin, tiagabine, topiramate, and vigabatrin have been reported to cause depression. Conversely, many of the AEDs may be used to stabilize patients with mood disorders. Sodium valproate, carbamazepine and lamotrigine have FDA-approved indications for bipolar disorder. In addition, several AEDs including phenytoin and carbamazepine have demonstrated effectiveness in the management of unipolar depression. 54,55 It is important to note that, because of ethical considerations, very few of the AED epilepsy trials are strictly placebo-controlled. Because of the various CNS activities of the AEDs used as comparators, it is difficult to judge the exact prevalence of depression caused by these agents. Also, the rate of depression in patients with epilepsy is very high (32–48%) and the lifetime prevalence of suicide and suicide attempts is 5% to 14% in this population. 56 Therefore, this increase in the incidence of mood disorders can be only partially attributed to the AEDs. All of the AEDs, particularly at higher doses, are associated with lethargy, fatigue, drowsiness, and asthenia, which may mimic depression. In January 2008, the FDA issued an alert regarding suicidality related to AEDs.⁵⁷ Data from 199 placebo-controlled trials of 11 AEDs

(carbamazepine, felbamate, gabapentin, lamotrigine, levetiracetam, oxcarbazepine, pregabalin, tiagabine, topiramate, valproate, zonisamide) were analyzed, and the investigators reported suicidal ideation or behavior in 0.43% of patients taking AEDs as compared with 0.22% of those taking placebo. The relative risk of suicidal behavior or ideation in patients taking AEDs for epilepsy was 3.53 (95% CI, 1.28–12.1) as compared with 1.51 (95% CI, 0.95–2.45) for those taking AEDs for psychiatric reasons and 1.87 (95% CI, 0.81–4.76) for those taking AEDs for other reasons.⁵⁷ No specific AED or demographic group appeared to be at greater risk.

Of the AEDs, the barbiturates are most strongly associated with depression in both adult and pediatric populations. S8-61 In one cross-sectional sample of adult patients in Mexico City, primadone use was strongly associated with depression, with an odds ratio of 4.089 (95% CI, 2.094–7.985). In this sample, 70% of the patients treated with primadone were depressed. In another study, phenobarbital was associated with an incidence of depression of 40%. Data relating phenytoin use to depression are much less convincing. There are case reports of two patients with epilepsy who had supratherapeutic serum phenytoin concentrations (22.7 mcg/mL and 25.5 mcg/mL) who also had depressive symptoms. When the phenytoin dose was decreased or the medication was discontinued, the symptoms resolved. A prospective study of 277 subjects in whom tiagabine or placebo was added to baseline AED therapy found depression in 3% of those treated with tiagabine. Depression was reported in 4% of levetiracetam-treated subjects as compared with 2% in those treated with placebo. A retrospective case series and an additional case report have also implicated levetiracetam as a cause of depression. According to the patients are a cause of depression. According to the patients treated in doubleblind, placebo-controlled clinical trials (P<0.001).

Depression often is cited as an adverse effect of benzodiazepines, both during therapy and after discontinuation. However, the literature supporting incident depression in patients taking benzodiazepines is not robust, and depression is reported infrequently in controlled clinical trials. Case reports and observational studies have identified an increased risk of depression in patients taking benzodiazepines. These reports, however, do not control for confounding variables, such as history of depression, presence of comorbid depression, or concomitant medications, and are therefore difficult to interpret. Depression and anxiety are highly comorbid syndromes, and the emergence of depression during benzodiazepine therapy may occur from a relapse or as a coincidental finding. Moreover, alprazolam administered in higher doses has been shown to have an antidepressant effect.

Physostigmine was associated with immediate depressive symptoms in nine normal volunteers administered high intravenous doses.⁷⁵ Whether the results of this study apply to patients with myasthenia gravis who take oral physostigmine, with relatively low bioavailability, is unknown.

Only a single epidemiologic study exists to implicate triptans as causative agents for depression. A cohort analysis of the West Midlands General Practice Research Database in the U.K. examined the incidence of depression in migraineurs receiving any oral triptan, sumatriptan, or the more lipophilic medications (naratriptan or zolmitriptan). A larger proportion of the 1,062 patients (23.2%) receiving any oral triptan were diagnosed with depression, as compared with 16.8% of 18,033 patients not receiving an oral triptan (P<0.001). When specific medications were compared, no difference in the number of patients diagnosed with depression after their first prescription was found between those receiving sumatriptan (4.2%) and those receiving naratriptan or zolmitriptan (3.9%) (P = 0.87).

Several medications used in immunotherapy and chemotherapy, including interferon-alfa, interferon- β , and interleukin (IL)-2 have demonstrated associations with depression. In addition, the immunosuppressant agent mycophenolate was reported to cause depression in a patient using the drug for myasthenia gravis. Multiple types of alfa interferons (INFa) are available: recombinant INFa2a; recombinant INFa2b; INFan3, a mixture of at least 15 different interferon subtypes produced from human leukocytes; peginterferon a2a, a combination of recombinant INFa2a and an inert 40kD polyethylene glycol polymer; peginterferon a2b, a combination of recombinant INFa2b and an inert 12-kD polyethylene glycol polymer; and INF alfacon-1 (consensus INF), a recombinant, synthetic product. Depression has been reported in association with each type of INFa. Several trials investigating the relationship of depression and the various INFas have been conducted, with treatment-emergent depression reported in 16% to 96% have been conducted, with treatment-emergent depression reported in 16% to 96% of patients. Although none of these trials were placebo-controlled, many used standardized instruments to assess depression. One study examined the effect of INFa over time and found decreased numbers of patients with depression after 6 months of therapy (8–33%) as compared with 1 month (79–96%; P = 0.03).

Two β interferons are available in the U.S. for treatment of multiple sclerosis (MS). Interferon-beta (INF β) 1a is available for intramuscular or subcutaneous injection and INF β 1b is administered subcutaneously. The data regarding INF β -precipitated depression are less clear than those for depression induced by INF α . Two controlled trials suggest an increased risk of depression associated with INF β 1a, with incidences ranging from 20% to 33%. Two other studies of INF β 1a have not revealed an increased prevalence of depression as compared with that associated with placebo. Only one trial compared the two commercially available formulations of INF β 1a. The Evidence for Interferon Dose-Effect: European-North American Comparative Efficacy (EVIDENCE) study assigned 677 subjects to receive either INF β 1a 44 mcg subcutaneously three times weekly or INF β 1a 30 mcg intramuscularly weekly for 24 weeks.91 No difference in depression between the two treatment groups was reported (17% vs. 18%).

A long-term seminal trial of INFβ1b demonstrated higher rates of depression with the clinically-used 8 MU dose compared with those associated with placebo at each yearly timepoint. 92 Two trials have been conducted to specifically examine rates of depression associated with INFβ1b. One study reported depression in a mean (±SD) 13±4% of patients, though no formal testing for depression was performed.⁹³ Another small study found a decreasing rate of reported depression over the 1-year study period, ranging from 21.4% of subjects at baseline to 6.3% of subjects at 12 months. 94 Only one study comparing two of the INFB products examined depressive symptoms. The Independent Comparison of Interferon (INCOMIN) trial noted depression in 22% of subjects (18 of 88) given INFB1a 30 mcg intramuscularly weekly and in 19% of subjects (18 of 94) given INFβ1b 8 mcg subcutaneously every other day $(P = 0.68)^{.95}$ A prospective cohort of 182 patients started on any INFB treatment were administered the Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression and the Beck Depression Inventory at baseline and after a mean treatment duration of 65.6 months. There was no increase in the number of patients demonstrating depression over this time. 96 A Canadian database analysis of antidepressant prescription claims for patients with multiple sclerosis failed to detect a significant difference in the percentage of patients receiving antidepressant prescriptions between INF-treated and glatiramer acetate-treated patients. However, the percentage of patients in all cohorts receiving antidepressant medications was high (40%).⁹⁷

IL-2 also has been reported to cause depression. In two studies of patients with metastatic carcinoma, patients administered IL-2 were found to be significantly more likely to have depression than those not receiving IL-2 therapy. The association between other chemotherapeutic agents and depression is more tenuous. One trial examined two regimens for the treatment of small-cell carcinoma of the lung in 77 patients. Regimen 1 consisted of methotrexate, doxorubicin, lomustine, and cyclophosphamide. Regimen 2 comprised cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine, and lomustine. Subjects were tested with the Profile of Mood States at baseline and after completion of therapy. Increased depression ratings following therapy were reported in 30% (not statistically significant as compared with baseline) of those receiving regimen 1 and 48% (P = 0.03 as compared with baseline) of those receiving regimen 2. The authors speculated that the larger proportion of patients with increased depression rating scores in patients who received regimen 2 can be attributed to vincristine. A case report also implicates vincristine as a cause of depression. A patient treated for acute myoblastic leukemia who received vincristine 10 mg instead of 1 mg had severe depression with uncontrollable crying. The symptoms dissipated over a 3-week period.

Other drugs that have been implicated in depression in case reports include 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase inhibitors, histamine₂-receptor blockers, amiodarone, nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs, metoclopramide, ondansetron, and psychostimulants. ¹⁰²⁻¹¹⁶ However, cause–effect relationships have not been established for any of these agents. Similarly, postmarketing adverse event reporting largely from case reports identified a risk of neuropsychiatric adverse events including depression and suicidality associated with the nicotine-receptor agonist varenicline and the leukotriene antagonist montelukast. These reports prompted the FDA to require stronger warning language in the product information. ¹¹⁷⁻¹¹⁹ In placebo-controlled trials of 4,400 patients, varenicline was associated with higher risk of depression than no treatment. However, patients with a history of psychiatric disorders were excluded from these trials. Postmarketing surveillance revealed severe neuropsychiatric events, including suicide, occurring during and after treatment with varenicline. While smoking cessation may be associated with nicotine withdrawal symptoms including depression and agitation, there appears to be an increased risk of these symptoms associated with varenicline, as some of these cases occurred while patients were still smoking. ^{117,118}

Antidepressant medications would not be expected to cause drug-induced depression. However, antidepressant drugs are associated with an increased risk of suicidality in patients younger than 25 years of age. Pooled analyses of 24 short-term placebo-controlled antidepressant trials in over 4,400 children and adolescents with MDD, obsessive—compulsive disorder, or other psychiatric disorders showed that these drugs increased the risk of suicidality, although no suicides were reported. Antidepressant treatment in patients younger than 18 years of age resulted in an additional 14 cases of suicidality per 1,000 patients treated. The pooled analyses of 295 short-term placebo-controlled studies in over 77,000 adults aged 18 to 24 years with MDD or other psychiatric disorders showed an additional 5 cases of suicidality per 1,000 patients treated. There was no increased risk in adults aged 25 to 64 years, and there was a reduced risk in adults ≥65 years (6 fewer cases per 1,000 patients). All antidepressant medications, including antipsychotics with an FDA indication for MDD (e.g., aripiprazole and quetiapine), have a boxed warning for suicidality in the product information. This risk should be carefully considered when choosing a treatment intervention for MDD.

MECHANISMS

Drug-induced depression occurs through several mechanisms, including direct alteration of bioamine function, disturbance of HPA axis function, dramatic hormonal changes, and elevation of cytokine production (Table 18–2).

TABLE 18–2. Mechanisms of Drug-Induced Depression			
Drug	Mechanism		
Reserpine	Depletes neuronal norepinephrine, serotonin, and dopamine		
Guanethidine	Depletes neuronal norepinephrine		
Methyldopa	Partial agonism of norepinephrine receptor		
Clonidine	Reduces norepinephrine output via α ₂ -adrenergic receptor agonism		
Digitalis	Inhibits central nervous system synthesis of norepinephrine		
Isotretinoin	Alters dopaminergic, serotonin, and possibly norepinephrine systems		
Leuprolide	Reduces both estrogen and androgen production		
Tamoxifen	Reduces estrogen function via antagonizing estrogen receptors		
Cortisone	Elevates plasma rtisol oncentrations		
Phenobarbital	Reduces plasma unbound tryptophan, which influences plasma serotonin concentrations		
Topiramate	Increases the amount of GABA available		
Tiagabine	Increases the amount of GABA available		
INFα	Increases interleukin-6 production		
Vincristine	Prevents the conversion of dopamine to norepinephrine		
Varenicline	$\alpha_4\beta_2$ -nicotinic receptor agonist, indirectly modulates dopamine		
GABA = γ-aminobutyric acid.			

The antihypertensive agents reserpine, guanethidine, and methyldopa all likely induce depression by depleting CNS bioamine activity. Guanethidine and reserpine deplete norepinephrine at the synapse. Methyldopa is transformed into α -methyl norepinephrine, which is less active than norepinephrine and replaces it at the sympathetic nerve endings, thus acting as a false neurotransmitter. Notably, the norepinephrine depletion caused by reserpine generated one of the early theories of the pathogenesis of depression (e.g., the monoamine hypothesis). Clonidine also reduces central norepinephrine output via stimulation of α_2 -adrenergic receptors.

 β -blockers exert a specific centrally-mediated effect on both β -adrenergic and serotonin receptors. Chronic β -receptor blockade results in increased β -receptor binding, an effect opposite to that associated with antidepressants. This reduces β -receptor binding and receptor density. 127,128

The mechanism of digoxin-induced depression is unknown, although alteration of CNS norepinephrine synthesis is suspected. In animal models, digitalis has been shown to inhibit CNS synthesis of norepinephrine and to decrease norepinephrine uptake by CNS tissue, with an apparent overall activation of CNS noradrenergic function. Altered activity of CNS dopaminergic and serotonergic systems also has been demonstrated, particularly with high digitalis doses. Similarly, the mechanism of isotretinoin-induced depression is not clear, but animal studies suggest alterations in the dopaminergic, serotonin, and possibly norepinephrine systems.

GnRH agonists induce a hypogonadal state, resulting in a significant reduction in both estrogen and androgen production. Significant fluctuation in serum estrogen concentrations and low estrogenic states have been associated with substantial mood symptoms in patients with

premenstrual dysphoric disorder and during menopause. The significant decline in estrogen production associated with GnRH agonist therapy is believed to be the cause of depressive symptoms in these patients. Estrogen may affect mood in several ways, such as by increasing the availability of neurotransmitters, including serotonin, by enhancing the degradation of monoamine oxidase. Estrogen modulates serotonin in other ways, including regulation of tryptophan, a serotonin precursor, and increasing the number of serotonin transport sites. Tamoxifen, an estradiol receptor antagonist, also may produce depressive symptoms caused by a decline in estrogen function. However, raloxifene, a selective estradiol receptor antagonist, without CNS activity, does not appear to induce depression. 132

A number of mechanisms have been proposed regarding the mood effects of OCs. Estrogen may induce a pyridoxine deficiency resulting in a decrease in serotonin and γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA) concentrations in the CNS. Vitamin B_6 has been suggested as an effective treatment. Other possible mechanisms include an estrogen- and progesterone-mediated augmentation of GABA's inhibition and suppression of glutamate and a progesterone-mediated increase in monoamine oxidase activity. 130,134

Corticosteroids are thought to induce mood symptoms by elevating plasma cortisol concentrations. Patients with Cushing's disease have been reported to have high rates of depressive symptoms. Moreover, abnormalities of the HPA axis with hypercortisolemia are found in patients with MDD. It is of interest that corticosteroids are as likely to induce mania as depression, suggesting a complex interaction. 48

The mechanism of AED-induced depression likely involves GABA, an inhibitory neurotransmitter, alterations in serotonin activity or a combination of these. Some evidence suggests that antidepressant agents enhance activity at GABA-B receptors and decrease activity at GABA-A receptors. Therefore, agents that primarily act at the GABA-A receptors, such as phenobarbital, tiagabine, or topiramate, or indiscriminately increase the amount of GABA available to both receptors, such as tiagabine, may be associated with greater potential for inducing depression. Both phenobarbital and phenytoin reduce unbound plasma tryptophan concentrations, which influences serotonin turnover. In addition, the enzyme-inducing AEDs can cause a folate deficiency. Decreases in plasma folate concentrations may reduce methylation reactions involving neurotransmitters and monoamines, which may be implicated in depression induction.

The mechanisms of depression caused by the immunologic agents have not been elucidated completely. Most work in this area has been conducted with INF α , and several mechanisms have been proposed that may be applicable to INF β and IL-2. INF α induces the production of proinflammatory cytokines, such as IL-6, which may lead to depression. An increase in the Montgomery–Asberg Depression Rating Scale scores was significantly and positively correlated with increases in serum IL-6 concentrations. INF α affects the serotonergic system to increase serotonin transporter messenger ribonucleic acid and uptake activity, suppress serotonin concentrations in brain or serum, and induce the catabolism of tryptophan. The net effect of these alterations in the serotonin system is to decrease the amount of serotonin at the active receptor sites and potentiate depression. INF α administration is also associated with activation of the HPA, which has been associated with depression and with increases in serum IL-6 concentrations. Which has been associated with depression and with increases in serum IL-6 concentrations. A depletion of tryptophan, the amino acid precursor to serotonin, caused by INF α administration has also been hypothesized. A polymorphism (C1019G) on the allele coding for the 5-HT_{1A} receptor (HTR1A) has also been implicated in the development of INF α -induced depression. The HTR1A receptor is the major autoreceptor on the serotonergic

raphe neurons. Alterations in this receptor can lead to decreased secretion of serotonin. This polymorphism is relatively common, with approximately 48% of people having at least one C1019G allele. This finding may help explain the very common occurrence of depression in patients treated with $INF\alpha$. ¹⁴²

Vinca alkaloids have been shown to inhibit the transport of dopamine hydroxylase, thereby preventing the conversion of dopamine to norepinephrine, ¹⁰¹ the resultant effect of which could be depression. The mechanism of varenicline-induced depression is unknown, but the partial $\alpha_4\beta_2$ -nicotinic receptor agonist indirectly modulates dopamine, ¹⁴³ which may in turn modulate mood.

CLINICAL PRESENTATION AND DIFFERENTIAL DIAGNOSIS

Drug- or substance-induced depression is defined by DSM-IV as a prominent and persistent disturbance of mood that occurs during use or within 1 month of intoxication or withdrawal of therapy with a medication. The key feature of diagnosis is the temporal association between the development of depressive symptoms and the use of a causative drug. The disturbance of mood or presence of depression should be severe enough to result in impairment of daily function. In addition, the clinician must rule out the possibility of preexisting depression and the influence of the disease state being treated, particularly psychological stressors.

Symptoms associated with drug-induced depression (Table 18–3) are similar to those observed in patients with MDD, with few exceptions. More severe symptoms including suicidal ideation and psychotic symptoms have been reported in association with INFα, corticosteroids, and varenicline. 48,52,82,117,118 With most agents, the onset of depression generally occurs during the first weeks of treatment. The median onset of symptoms in FDA-reported cases of isotretinoin-associated depression during the first course of therapy was 30 days, and the median recovery time was 4.5 days. During the rechallenge course, the time to onset of symptoms was shorter. 144 Patients treated with GnRH agonists have depressive symptoms that are consistent with the time to reach a hypogonadal state. 33,34 When the hypogonadal state is of short duration, as with in vitro fertilization treatment, depressive symptoms are transient and less severe.³⁸ However, during sustained treatment for endometriosis, depressive symptoms appear to be persistent and generally more severe, sometimes resulting in the need for discontinuation of treatment. 35,39,145 Drug-induced suicidality is temporally associated with initiation of treatment and represents a marked change in thoughts and behavior from baseline. 120 Suicidality associated with anticonvulsants and antidepressants occurs early in treatment, and must be distinguished from the underlying mood disorder for which they have been prescribed.

TABLE 18-3. Signs and Symptoms Associated with Drug-Induced Depression

- Depressed mood
- Diminished interest or pleasure in most activities
- Sleep changes (insomnia or hypersomnia)
- Appetite increase or decrease
- Hopelessness/helplessness
- Suicidal ideation
- Fatigue

- Decreased concentration
- Psychomotor agitation or retardation

Conditions and diseases associated with depression must be ruled out in order to arrive at a diagnosis of drug-induced depression (Table 18–4). The incidence of depression in patients with epilepsy ranges from 4% to 62%, depending on the method of diagnosis and the population studied. One study found that patients with hypertension were three times more likely to have depression than normotensive patients. Many chronic health conditions for which immunologic agents are used have been associated with high rates of depression. The prevalence of depression in patients with chronic hepatitis C is 11% to 30%, while the prevalence of depression in patients with cancer is 28%. Multiple sclerosis is also associated with a 15% to 30% point prevalence of depression and a lifetime depression incidence of 40% to 60%. Fatigue, a symptom common to all of the disease states in this category, often can be confused with depression. Alternatively, depression may be underdiagnosed because of the expectation that patients will present with fatigue. Other conditions that may cause misdiagnosis of depression include hyperthyroidism and hypothyroidism and unrealistic expectations, leading to discouragement and frustration.

TABLE 18-4. Conditions to Consider in the Differential Diagnosis of Drug-Induced Depression

- · Substance-use disorder
- · Preexisting mood disorder
- · General medical conditions
 - Endocrine
 - Infectious
 - Deficiency state
 - Collagen disorders
 - Metabolic disorders
 - Neurologic disorders
 - Cardiovascular disease
 - Malignant disease

RISK FACTORS

Female sex, family history of mood disorder, childhood abuse, anxiety disorders, sleep disorders, and neurologic disorders are known risk factors for MDD.¹ It is unclear, however, whether these factors also increase the risk of drug-induced depression. Much of the literature regarding drug-induced depression arises from case reports, database evaluations, and observational studies, which are not designed to identify risk factors. Factors that appear to increase the risk of drug-induced depression are listed in Table 18–5.

TABLE 18-5. Risk Factors for Drug-Induced Depression

Risk Factors Common to All Drugs

- History of major depressive disorder or prior depression episode
- History of drug-induced depression
- Psychosocial stressors (e.g., financial, relationship, or job stress)

Risk Factors Associated with Specific Drugs

Corticosteroids

- Dose (>80 mg/day prednisone equivalents)
- Efavirenz
 - o Plasma concentrations >2.74 mcg/L during longterm treatment
- Topiramate
 - o Dose (higher starting dose of 50 mg/day, titration of 50 mg/day every 2 wk)
 - o Temporal-lope epilepsy with hippocampal sclerosis
 - o Presence of cognitive adverse effects
 - o Family history of epilepsy
 - o History of febrile seizures
- Interferon-alfa
 - o Homozygous for the HTR1A-1019G allele
 - o Increased immune activation (e.g., increased soluble IL-2 receptor, IL-6, and IL-10 serum concentrations) prior to treatment for hepatitis C
- Oral contraceptives
 - o History of premenstrual depression or pregnancyrelated depression
 - o History of dysmenorrhea
 - o Family history of depression while taking oral contraceptives
 - o Predisposition to vitamin B₆ deficiency
 - o High degree of psychological distress prior to oralcontraceptive use
 - o Age <20 yr experience negative affect more often
 - o High estrogen/progesterone content
- IL = interleukin.

A history of depression or another psychiatric disorder is the most consistently identified risk factor for depression associated with most of the causative drugs. In addition, the presence of psychological stressors has been noted to increase the risk. While increased stress may be expected in patients with serious medical illnesses, it is unclear whether increased stress increases the risk of depression associated with drugs such as immunologic or cancer chemotherapeutic agents. Patients with a history of drug-induced depression are likely to be at greater risk upon repeated exposures.¹⁵

Dose may be an important risk factor for depression associated with some agents. Depression is more likely to occur when higher doses of corticosteroids are used (>80 mg/day prednisone equivalents). It is unclear whether multiple courses of corticosteroids increase the risk of depression. However, patients with a history of steroid-induced depression should be monitored closely. Likewise, oral contraceptives with higher estrogen content are more commonly associated with depression. Some open-label data suggest that the risk of neuropsychiatric adverse effects associated with long-term treatment (>6 months) with efavirenz were more than five times greater in patients with plasma efavirenz concentrations >2.74 mcg/L. 153

Several factors have been specifically associated with an increased risk of treatment of emergent depression or negative affect in patients taking OCs (Table 18–5). Whereas the overall risk for depression caused by these drugs is considered low, patients presenting with any of these factors should be considered at greater risk. The risk may vary with the type of OC used. Monophasic OCs exert greater mood-stabilizing effects than triphasic products. In addition, patients with premenstrual mood symptoms may have an increased risk of negative mood effects with OCs containing low amounts of progesterone or a low progesterone-to-estrogen ratio. Women without premenstrual mood symptoms appear to have increased risk with a higher progesterone content.⁴⁷

A retrospective study of patients with temporal lobe epilepsy who were initiated on topiramate therapy revealed that those with hippocampal sclerosis in association with temporal-lobe epilepsy were significantly more likely to have depression than those without hippocampal sclerosis. Patients without hippocampal sclerosis who had cognitive adverse effects such as psychomotor slowing or word-finding difficulties associated with topiramate were also more likely to be diagnosed with depression. A case series of patients started on topiramate therapy found that a higher starting dose (50 mg daily) and a faster titration schedule (increase of 50 mg/day every 2 weeks) as well as the presence of cognitive adverse effects caused by topiramate increased the odds of any psychiatric adverse events, including depression. Other related factors were family or personal history of psychiatric conditions, family history of epilepsy and a history of febrile convulsions. A

Risk factors for depression associated with INF α treatment include hepatitis C and an increase in vegetative symptoms of depression on the Zung depression rating scale after 4 weeks of treatment. Patients who were homozygous for the HTR1A-1019G allele had an approximate threefold risk increase of depression induced by INF α treatment. One small study of 16 patients undergoing treatment with various INF α regimens for hepatitis C found that patients with higher levels of immune activation as demonstrated by increased soluble IL-2 receptor, IL-6, and IL-10 serum concentrations prior to treatment were more likely to have major depressive disorder as measured by DMS-IV criteria and the Montgomery–Asberg Depression Rating Scale score.

The risk for suicidality associated with antidepressants is inversely related to age, with patients <18 years at greatest risk, and adults 18 to 24 years at greater risk than older adults (25 to 64 years). Antidepressant selection, dose, or indication do not significantly change the risk of suicidality within the stratified age groups. Conversely, patients receiving an AED for epilepsy are 3.4 times more likely to experience suicidality than patients with psychiatric disorders.

MORBIDITY AND MORTALITY

Drug-induced depression can be associated with significant morbidity and mortality. Many drugs associated with depressive symptoms are used to treat chronic medical disorders or are components of lifesaving or prolonging therapeutic regimens. Patients experiencing significant depressive symptoms as a result of their treatment may be less likely to adhere to therapy and may be less optimistic about potential treatment benefits. Furthermore, the development of severe depressive symptoms may necessitate the discontinuation of lifesaving treatments.

The presence of depression or severe depressive symptoms may increase the risk of suicide or suicidal ideation. Whereas the prevalence of suicide risk in patients with drug-induced depression is unknown, up to 15% of patients with severe MDD die as a result of suicide. Moreover, patients with MDD have decreased physical, social, and role functioning as well as increased pain and physical illness. The risk of suicidality associated with antidepressant treatment must be balanced with the much greater risk of suicidality in patients with untreated depression.

PREVENTION

There is very little information available regarding preventive strategies for drug-induced depression. However, some interventions may prove useful (Table 18–6). Identifying patients with risk factors (e.g., history of depressive episode) and implementing a prospective monitoring plan seems prudent, but will not prevent drug-induced depression. Careful monitoring and early detection may, however, minimize the negative sequelae associated with depression. Treating psychosocial stressors with interventions such as counseling and education may also prove beneficial, but this strategy has not been systematically evaluated. Pretreatment or prophylaxis for depressive symptoms may be useful in some cases. Sabet reported the successful pretreatment (with lithium and protriptyline) of an individual with a history of steroid-induced depression. 160 In a retrospective review of patients receiving leuprolide for treatment of endometriosis, concomitant treatment with sertraline minimized the emergence of depressive symptoms. 158 Convincing evidence exists regarding the benefit of pretreatment for depression in patients with melanoma receiving INFα. Musselman et al. 161 randomly assigned 40 patients with melanoma to receive pretreatment with paroxetine (n = 20) or placebo (n = 20) 2 weeks prior to and throughout the 12-week INFα regimen. The risk of developing depression was lower in the paroxetine group (11% vs. 35%; relative risk, 0.24; 95% CI, 0.08–0.93) and pretreated patients were less likely to discontinue INFα because of depressive symptoms (5% vs. 35%; relative risk, 0.14; 95% CI, 0.05-0.85). A small group (n = 10) of patients with hepatitis C who had a history of major depression were administered escitalopram preventively during treatment with peg-INFα2a and ribavirin. Only one patient from this group had depression (Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression, >17) during the course of 24 to 48 weeks of INF treatment. Amantadine, a medication with both antiviral and dopaminergic effects, was studied in 14 subjects who were treated with peg-INFα2a and ribavirin for hepatitis C. As compared with the control group, amantadine-treated subjects were significantly less likely to have depression by week 24 of treatment. 163

TABLE 18-6 Approaches to Help Prevent Drug-Induced Depression

- Assess patient for history of depressive episodes or history of drug-induced depression at baseline
- If Yes:
 - Consider individual risk-benefit of drug therapy
 - Select alternative drug within therapeutic category, if possible
 - Pretreatment with selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor if undergoing therapy with interferon or gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonist

MANAGEMENT

Appropriate management (Table 18–7) of drug-induced depression begins with prompt recognition of the emergence of depressive symptoms. In some cases, depressive symptoms may be transient or mild, as in patients receiving GnRH agonist therapy as part of in vitro fertilization treatment.³⁸ For many patients, education and support may be the only intervention needed. Psychological interventions or psychotherapy prove beneficial for patients with mild-to-moderate symptoms of MDD, but the benefit of psychotherapy in patients with drug-induced depression is unclear. For more severe or persistent depressive symptoms, therapy with the

offending agent will likely have to be discontinued or antidepressant treatment may need to be initiated, and in some cases, both strategies are required. Children, adolescents, and young adults (18–24 years) receiving antidepressants for depression or other psychiatric disorders should be monitored frequently (weekly to biweekly) during the first few weeks for treatment-emergent suicidality or worsening of depression. The emergence of suicidal ideation or psychotic symptoms should always be considered serious, and these patients should receive immediate intervention, including hospitalization.

TABLE 18-7 Management of Drug-Induced Depression

- Discontinue the offending agent, if possible
- Substitute medication within therapeutic class
- Counseling or supportive therapy for mild depressive symptoms
- Initiate antidepressant therapy for persistent or moderate-to-severe depressive symptoms

There are insufficient data to recommend specific doses of antidepressant therapy for the treatment of drug-induced depression, although in most reports doses similar to those used in patients with endogenous depression have been administered. Duration of therapy should be based on patient response and clinical judgment. In cases in which it would be best for a patient to continue to receive therapy with the causative agent, clinicians should consider factors such as severity of presentation, current mood, and level of psychological stress before deciding to discontinue drug therapy.

While not always possible, in some cases substituting another medication in the same drug or therapeutic class but with a lower risk of causing depression may represent the best management strategy. For example, patients experiencing β -blocker-induced depression may benefit from receiving a hydrophilic β -blocker or an antihypertensive drug from a different class (e.g., ACE inhibitor or diuretic). Similarly, patients experiencing OC-induced depression may benefit from an OC with a lower estrogen content or different estrogen:progesterone ratio. Patients with varenicline-induced neuropsychiatric side effects should be considered for nicotine replacement or bupropion for smoking cessation.

No specific treatments have been proposed for depression associated with the immunologic agents. Discontinuation of therapy is sometimes considered, but remission of depression does not always occur simultaneously with the discontinuation of interferon. For patients with hepatitis C, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors may be the best choice, as they are well tolerated by patients with liver disease, whereas tricyclic antidepressants with significant anticholinergic effects may increase the cognitive dysfunction that occurs in these patients. Gleason et al. conducted a study using citalopram to treat depression in patients with hepatitis C. Of the 15 subjects participating in the trial, four had previously taken INF α and four were currently receiving INF α therapy. Citalopram 10 to 40 mg/day was administered to all subjects, with a resultant improvement in mood. In another study, 13 patients on therapy with INF α had depression, 85% of whom were responsive to treatment with citalopram.166 Similar results were achieved with citalopram in another study. There are case reports of patients with INF α -induced depression who were responsive to treatment with methylphenidate or venlafaxine.

Selection of specific INF α therapy based on patients' depressive symptoms has been proposed. For patients with suicidal tendencies, INF α n3 is preferred; for patients experiencing depersonalization, INF α 2a is suggested; patients with paranoia may experience fewer symptoms with INF α 2a or INF α 2b; and those patients exhibiting obsessive or compulsive symptoms may improve during treatment with INF α n1. However, these recommendations are based on

relatively small numbers of individuals and the symptoms expressed by those individuals in a clinical trial, and require evaluation in a prospective trial. Sertraline has proven effective for the management of depressive symptoms associated with GnRH agonists. Lithium, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors, and electroconvulsive therapy have been used to manage steroid-induced depression. Representation of the symptoms associated with GnRH agonists. The selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors, and electroconvulsive therapy have been used to manage steroid-induced depression.

There is inherent difficulty in recommending antidepressant therapy for patients with epilepsy because of the epileptogenic potential of most antidepressant drugs. Bupropion may exert proconvulsant properties in persons without epilepsy, particularly in doses >450 mg/day. Tricyclic antidepressants also may have epileptogenic potential, particularly amoxapine, clomipramine, maprotiline, and mianserin. Although selective serotonin-reuptake inhibitors are generally preferred in patients with epilepsy, they have been associated with seizures in case reports. This may be caused, in part, by an increased incidence of hyponatremia, which may induce seizures.

INFORMATION FOR PATIENTS

Patients should be informed regarding the possibility of the emergence of depressive symptoms when prescribed a drug associated with depression. They should be instructed to report any symptoms of depressed mood or extreme irritability, anxiety, anhedonia, difficulty sleeping, fatigue, feelings of hopelessness or helplessness, change in appetite or weight, or thoughts of death. Patients with a history of depression may be at greater risk for experiencing drug-induced depression. Patients should be encouraged to inform their provider of any history or treatment of any psychiatric disorder.

The FDA requires pharmacists to distribute medication guides to patients receiving medications with specific warnings of suicidality or other severe neuropsychiatric side effects. Medication guides are intended to inform patients about a known serious side effect of a drug. These guides are available at http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/DrugSafety/ucm085729.htm.

REFERENCES

- 1. American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders. Text Revision* (DSMIV-TR). 4th ed. Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Association; 2000.
- 2. Hazen PG, Carney JF, Walker AE, et al. Depression: a side effect of 13-cis retinoic acid therapy. *J Am Acad Dermatol*. 1983;9:278-279.
- 3. Scheinman PL, Peck GL, Rubinow DR, et al. Acute depression from isotretinoin. *J Am Acad Dermatol.* 1990;22:1112-1114.
- 4. Hanson N, Leachman S. Safety issues in isotretinoin therapy. *Semin Cutan Med Surg.* 2001;20:166-183.
- 5. Wysowski DK, Pitts M, Beitz J. An analysis of reports of depression and suicide in patients treated with isotretinoin. *J Am Acad Dermatol.* 2001;45:515-519.
- 6. Azoulay L, Blais L, Koren G, et al. Isotretinoin and the risk of depression in patients with acne vulgaris: a casecrossover study. *J Clin Psychiatry*. 2008;69(4):e1-e7.
- 7. Jick SS, Kremers HM, Vasilakis-Scaramozza C. Isotretinoin use and risk of depression, psychotic symptoms, suicide, and attempted suicide. *Arch Dermatol.* 2000;136:1231-1236.
- 8. Cohen J, Adams S, Patten S. No association found between patients receiving isotretinoin for acne and the development of depression in a Canadian prospective cohort. *Can J Clin Pharmacol*. 2007;14:e227-e233.

- 9. Kellett SC, Gawkrodger DJ. A prospective study of the responsiveness of depression and suicidal ideation in acne patients to different phases of isotretinoin therapy. *Eur J Dermatol*. 2005;15:484-488.
- Dollery CT, Emslie-Smith D, Milne MD. Guanethidine in the treatment of hypertension. *Lancet*. 1960;3:381-387.
- 11. Seedat YK, Pillay VKG. Further experience with guanethidine: a clinical assessment of 103 patients. *S AfrMed J.* 1966;1:140-142.
- 12. Stocks AE, Robertson A. The long-term therapy of severe hypertension with guanethidine. *Am Heart J* 1967:73:569-570.
- 13. Evanson JM, Seers HTN. Comparison of bretylium tosylate with guanethidine in the treatment of severe hypertension. *Lancet*. 1960;3:387-389.
- 14. Goodwin FK, Ebert MH, Bunney WE. Mental effects of reserpine in man: a review. In: Shader RI, ed. *Psychiatric Complications of Medical Drugs*. New York, NY: Raven Press; 1972:73-101.
- 15. Raftos J, Bauer GE, Lewis RG, et al. Clonidine in the treatment of severe hypertension. *Med J Aust*. 1973;1:786-793.
- 16. Stoudemire A, Brown JT, Harris RT, et al. Propranolol and depression: a reevaluation based on a pilot clinical trial. *Psychiatr Med.* 1984;2:211-218.
- 17. Griffin SJ, Freidman MJ. Depressive symptoms in propranolol users. J Clin Psychiatry. 1986;47:453-457.
- 18. Avorn J, Everett DE, Weiss S. Increased antidepressant use in patients prescribed β-blockers. *JAMA*. 1986;255:357-360.
- 19. Thiessen BQ, Wallace SM, Blackburn JL, et al. Increased prescribing of antidepressants subsequent to β-blocker therapy. *Arch Intern Med.* 1990;150:2286-2290.
- 20. Patten SB, Love EJ. Drug-induced depression. *Psychothe Psychosom.* 1997;66:63-73.
- 21. Schleifer SJ, Slater WR, Macari-Hinson NM, et al. Digitalis and beta-blocking agents: effects on depression following myocardial infarction. *Psychiatric Med.* 1984;2:211-218.
- 22. Palinkas LA, Wingard DL, Barrett-Connor E. Chronic illness and depressive symptoms in the elderly: a population based study. *J Clin Epidemiol*. 1990;43:1131-1141.
- 23. Schleifer SJ, Slater WR, Macari-Hinson MM, et al. Digitalis and β-blocking agents: effects on depression following myocardial infarction. *Am Heart J.* 1991;121:1397-1402.
- 24. Sternbach H, State R. Antibiotics: neuropsychiatric effects and psychotropic interactions. *Harv Rev Psychiatry*. 1997;5:214-226.
- 25. Christ W. Central nervous system toxicity of quinolones: human and animal findings. *J Antimicrob Chemother*. 1990;26(suppl B):219-225.
- 26. Mitchell RS, Lester W. Clinical experience with cycloserine in the treatment of tuberculosis. *Scand J Respir Dis Suppl.* 1970;71:94-108.
- 27. Weinstein HJ, Hallett WY, Sarauw AS. The absorption and toxicity of ethionamide. *Am Rev Respir Dis*. 1962:86:576-578.
- 28. Sustiva® Product Information, Rev Mar 2009. Bristol-Myers Squibb Company, Princeton NJ. Available at http://packageinserts.bms.com/pi/pi_sustiva.pdf. Accessed August 21, 2009.
- 29. Journot V, Chene G, De Castro N, et al. Use of efavirenz is not associated with a higher risk of depressive disorders: a substudy of the randomized clinical trial ALIZE-ANRS 099. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2006;42:1790-1799.
- 30. Colebunders R, Hilbrands R, De Roo A, et al. Neuropsychiatric reaction induced by abacavir. *Am J Med.* 2002;113:616.
- 31. Wise MEJ, Mistry K, Reid S. Neuropsychiatric complications of nevirapine treatment. BMJ. 2002;324:879.
- 32. Harry TC, Matthews M, Salvary I. Indinavir use: associated reversible hair loss and mood disturbance. *Int J STD AIDS*. 2000;11:474-476.
- 33. Warnock JK, Bundren JC. Anxiety and mood disorders associated with gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonist therapy. *Psychopharmacol Bull.* 1997;33:311-316.
- 34. Warnock JK, Bundren JC, Morris DW. Depressive mood symptoms associated with ovarian suppression. *Fertil Steril.* 2000;74:984-986.
- 35. TAP Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Lupron Depot 3.75 professional information brochure. Revised April 1995.35.
- 36. Zeneca Pharmaceuticals. Zoladex 3.6mg professional information brochure. Revised April 1995.
- 37. Toren P, Dor J, Mester R, et al. Depression in women treated with a gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonist. *Biol Psychol.* 1996;39:378-382.
- 38. Steingold KA, Cedars M, Lu JK,. Treatment of endometriosis with a long-acting gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonist. *Obstet Gynecol*. 1987;69:403-411.

- 39. Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group. Systemic treatment of early breast cancer by hormonal, cytotoxic, or immune therapy: 133 randomised trials involving 31,000 recurrences and 24,000 deaths among 75,000 women. *Lancet*. 1992;339:71-85.
- 40. Cathcart CK, Jones SE, Pumroy CS, et al. Clinical recognition and management of depression in node negative breast cancer patients treated with tamoxifen. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. 1993;27:277-281.
- 41. Shariff S, Cumming CE, Lees A, et al. Mood disorder in women with early breast cancer taking tamoxifen, an estradiol receptor antagonist: an expected or unexpected effect? *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 1995;761:365-368.
- 42. Anelli TF, Anelli A, Tran KN, et al. Tamoxifen administration is associated with a high rate of treatment-limiting symptoms in male breast cancer patients. *Cancer*. 1994;74:74-77.
- 43. Day R, Ganz PA, Costantino JP, et al. Health-related quality of life and tamoxifen in breast cancer prevention: a report from the National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project P-1 Study. *J Clin Oncol*. 1999;17:2659-2669.
- 44. Day R, Ganz PA, Constantino JP. Tamoxifen and depression: more evidence from the national surgical adjuvant breast and bowel project's breast cancer prevention (P-1) randomized study. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2001;93:1615-1623.
- 45. Kay CR. The Royal College of General Practitioners' Oral Contraception Study: some recent observations. *Clin Obstet Gynecol.* 1984;11:759-786.
- 46. Oinonen KA, Mazmanian D. To what extent do oral contraceptives influence mood and affect? *J Affect Disord*. 2002;70:229-240.
- 47. Brown ES, Suppes T. Mood symptoms during corticosteroid therapy: a review. *Harv Rev Psychiatry*. 1998;5:239-246.
- 48. Grigg JR. Prednisone mood disorder with associated catatonia. J Geriatr Psychiatry Neurol. 1989;2:41-44.
- 49. Sutor B, Wells LA, Rummans TA. Steroid-induced depressive psychosis responsive to electroconvulsive therapy. *Convuls Ther.* 1996;12:104-107.
- 50. Gift AG, Wood RM, Cahill CA. Depression, somatization, and steroid use in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Int J Nurs Stud.* 1989;26:281-286.
- 51. Patten SB, Williams JV, Love EJ. Self-reported depressive symptoms following treatment with corticosteroids and sedative hypnotics. *Int J Psychiatry Med.* 1996;26:15-24.
- 52. Boston Collaborative Drug Surveillance Program. Acute adverse reactions to prednisone in relation to dosage. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 1972:13:694-698.
- 53. Patten SB, Williams JV, Love EJ. Self-reported depressive symptoms in association with medication exposures among medical inpatients: a cross-sectional study. *Can J Psychiatry*. 1995;40:264-269.
- 54. Nemets B, Bersudsky Y, Belmaker RH. Controlled doubleblind trial of phenytoin vs. fluoxetine in major depressive disorder. *J Clin Psychiatry*. 2005;66:586-590.
- 55. Zhang ZJ, Tan QR, Tong Y, et al. The effectiveness of carbamazepine in unipolar depression: a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled study. *J Affect Disord*. 2008:109:91-97.
- 56. Jones JE, Hermann BP, Barry JJ, et al. Rates and risk factors for suicide, suicidal ideation, and suicide attempts in chronic epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav.* 2003;4:S31-S38.
- 57. US Food and Drug Administration. Antiepileptic drugs and suicidality. Available at: http://www.fda.gov/ohrms/dockets/ac/08/briefing/2008-4372b1-01-FDA.PDF. Accessed April 16, 2008.
- 58. Dodrill CB. Behavioral effects of antiepileptic drugs. In: Smith D, Treiman D, Trimble M, eds. *Advances in Neurology*. New York, NY: Raven Press; 1991;55:213-224.
- 59. Robertson MM, Trimble MR, Townsend HRA. Phenomenology of depression in epilepsy. *Epilepsia*. 1987;28:364-372.
- 60. Brent DA, Crumrine PK, Varna RR, et al. Phenobarbital treatment and major depressive disorder in children with epilepsy. *Pediatrics*. 1987;80:909-917.
- 61. Lopez-Gomez M, Ramirez-Bermudez J, Campillo C, et al. Primidone is associated with interictal depression in patients with epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav*. 2005;6:413-416
- 62. Garrison SJ, Henson HK. Dilantin toxicity and vegetative depression: a report of two cases. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* 1990;71:422-423.
- 63. Dodrill CB, Arnett JL, Deaton R, et al. Tiagabine versus phenytoin and carbamazepine as add-on therapies: effects on abilities, adjustment, and mood. *Epilepsy Res.* 2000;42:123-132.
- 64. Mula M, Trimble MR, Lhatoo SD, et al. Topiramate and psychiatric adverse events in patients with epilepsy. *Epilepsia*. 2003;44:659-663.
- 65. Keppra [package insert]. Smyrna, GA: UCB, Inc; 2008. 66. Mula M, Trimble MR, Yuen A, et al. Psychiatric adverse events during levetiracetam therapy. *Neurology*. 2003;61:704-706.

- 66. Wier LM, Tavares SB, Tyrka AR, et al. Levetiracetam induced depression in a healthy adult. *J Clin Psychiatry*. 2006;67:1159-1160.
- Levinson DF, Devinsky O. Psychiatric adverse events during vigabatrin therapy. Neurology. 1999;53:1503-1511
- 68. Janicak P, Davis JM, Preskorn SH, et al. *Principles and Practice of Psychopharmacotherapy*. 3rd ed. Baltimore, MD: Wilkins & Wilkins; 1997.
- 69. Lydiard RB, Laraia MT, Ballenger JC, et al. Emergence of depressive symptoms in patients receiving alprazolam for panic disorder. *Am J Psychiatry*. 1987;144:664-665.
- 70. Nagy LM, Krystal JH, Woods SW, et al. Clinical and medication outcome after short-term alprazolam and behavioral group treatment in panic disorder: 2.5 year naturalistic follow-up study. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. 1989;46:993-999.
- 71. Hall RCW, Joffe JR. Aberrant response to diazepam: a new syndrome. Am J Psychiatry. 1972;129:114-118.
- 72. Hall RCW, Zisook S. Paradoxical reactions to benodiazepines. *Br J Clin Pharmacol.* 1981;11:99s-104s.
- 73. Borison RL, Sinha D, Albrecht JW, et al. Double-blind comparison of 3- and 6-mg fixed doses of alprazolam vs. placebo in outpatients with major depressive disorder. *Psychopharmacol Bull.* 1989;25:186-189.
- 74. Risch SC, Cohen RM, Janowsky DS. Physostigmine induction of depressive symptomatology in normal human subjects. *Psychiatry Res.* 1981;4:89-94.
- 75. Millson D, Mrischer M, Croft P, et al. Are triptans with enhanced lipophilicity used for the acute treatment of migraine associated with an increased consulting rate for depressive illness? *Cephalalgia*. 2000;20:732-737.
- 76. Draper HM. Depressive disorder associated with mycophenolate mofetil. *Pharmacotherapy*. 2008;28:136-139.
- 77. Schaefer M, Schmidt F, Folwaczny C, et al. Adherence and mental side effects during hepatitis C treatment with interferon alfa a ribavirin in psychiatric risk groups. *Hepatology*. 2003;34:443-451.
- 78. Bonaccorso S, Puzella A, Marino V, et al. Immunotherapy with interferon-alpha in patients affected by chronic hepatitis C induces an intercorrelated stimulation of the cytokine network and an increase in depressive and anxiety symptoms. *Psychiatry Res.* 2001;105:45-55.
- 79. Maes M, Bonaccorso S, Marino V, et al. Treatment with interferon-alpha (INF α) of hepatitis C patients induces lower serum dipeptidyl peptidase IV activity, which is related to INF α -induced depressive and anxiety symptoms and immune activation. *Mol Psychiatry*. 2001;6:475-480.
- 80. Malaguarnera M, Laurino A, di Fazio I, et al. Neuropsychiatric effects and type of INF-α in chronic hepatitis C. *J Interferon Cytokine Res.* 2001;21:273-278.
- 81. Fried MW, Shiffman ML, Reddy KR, et al. Peginterferon alfa-2a plus ribavirin for chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *N Engl J Med.* 2002;347:975-982.
- 82. Zigante F, Bastie A, Buffet C, et al. Incidence of interferon alfa-induced depression inpatients with chronic hepatitis C. *Hepatology*. 2002;35:978-979.
- 83. Sjogren MH, Sjogren R, Lyons MF, et al. Antiviral response of HCV genotype 1 to consensus interferon and ribavirin versus pegylated interferon and ribavirin. *Dig Dis Sci*. 2007;52:1540-1547.
- 84. Quarantini LC, Bressan RA, Galvao A, et al. Incidence of psychiatric side effects during pegylated interferon-α retreatement in nonresponder hepatitis C virus-infected patients. *Liver Int*. 2007;27:1098-1102.
- 85. Lotrich FE, Rabinovitz M, Gironda P, et al. Depression following pegylated interferon-alpha: characteristics and vulnerability. *J Psychosomatic Res.* 2007;63:131-135.
- 86. Galetta SL. The controlled high risk Avonex multiple sclerosis trial (CHAMPS Study). *J Neuroophthalmol.* 2001;21:292-295.
- 87. The PRISMS (Prevention of Relapses and Disability by Interferon-β-1a Subcutaneously in Multiple Sclerosis) Study Group. PRISMS-4: long-term efficacy of interferon-β-1a in relapsing MS. *Neurology*. 2001;56:1628-1636.
- 88. Patten SB, Metz LM. Interferon β1a and depression in secondary progressive MS: data from the SPECTRIMS trial. *Neurology*. 2002;59:744-746.
- 89. The Once Weekly Interferon for MS Study Group (OWIMS). Evidence of interferon β-1a dose response in relapsing-remitting MS: the OWIMS Study. *Neurology*. 1999;53:679.
- 90. Panitch H, Goodin DS, Francis G. Randomized, comparative study of interferon β-1a treatment regimens in MS: the EVIDENCE Trial. *Neurology*. 2002;59:1496-1506.
- 91. The IFNB Multiple Sclerosis Study Group and The University of British Columbia MS/MRI Analysis Group. Interferon beta-1b in the treatment of multiple sclerosis: final outcome of the randomized controlled trial. *Neurology*. 1995;45:1277-1285.

- 92. Neilley KL, Goodin DS, Goodkin DE, et al. Side effect profile of interferon beta-1b in MS: results of an open label trial. *Neurology*. 1996;46:552-554.
- 93. Feinstein A, O'Connor P, Feinstein K. Multiple sclerosis, interferon beta-1b and depression: a prospective investigation. *J Neurol.* 2002;249:815-820.
- 94. Durelli L, Verdun E, Barbero P, et al. Every-other-day interferon beta-1b versus once-weekly interferon beta-1a for multiple sclerosis: results of a 2-year prospective randomized multicentre study (INCOMIN). *Lancet*. 2002;359:1453-1460.
- 95. Porcel J, Rio J, Sanchez-Betancourt A, et al. Long-term emotional state of multiple sclerosis patients treated with interferon beta. *Mult Scler*. 2006;12:802-807.
- 96. Patten SB, Williams JV, Metz LM. Anti-depressant use in association with interferon and glatiramer acetate treatment in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*. 2008;14(3):406-411.
- 97. Capuron L, Ravaud A, Dantzer R. Early depressive symptoms in cancer patients receiving interleukin 2 and/or interferon alfa-2b therapy. *J Clin Oncol.* 2000;18:2143-2151.
- 98. Capuron L, Ravaud A, Gualde N, et al. Association between immune activation and early depressive symptoms in cancer patients treated with interleukin-2-based therapy. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. 2001;26:797-808.
- 99. Silberfarb PM, Holland JCB, Anbar D, et al. Psychological response of patients receiving two drug regimens for lung carcinoma. *Am J Psychiatry*. 1983;140:110-111.
- 100. Yoffe G, Rice L, Alfrey CP, et al. Case report: depressive reaction to vincristine overdose. *Clin Lab Haematol*. 1986;8:80-81.
- 101. Lechleitner M, Hoppichler F, Konwalinka G, et al. Depressive symptoms in hypercholesterolemic patients treated with pravastatin. *Lancet*. 1992;340:910
- 102. Duits N, Bos FM. Depressive symptoms and cholesterollowering drugs. Lancet. 1993;341:114.
- 103. Billings RF, Tang SW, Rakoff VM. Depression associated with cimetidine. *Can J Psychiatry*. 1981;26:260-261.
- 104. Crowder MK, Pate JK. A case-report of cimetidine induced depressive syndrome. *Am J Psychiatry*. 1980;137:1451.
- 105. Billings RF, Stein MB. Depression associated with ranitidine. Am J Psychiatry. 1986;143:915-916.
- 106. Stocky A. Ranitidine and depression. Aust N Z J Psychiatry. 1991;25:415-418.
- 107. Blechman WJ, Schmid FR, April PA, et al. Ibuprofen or aspirin in rheumatoid arthritis therapy. *JAMA*. 1975;233:336-369.
- 108. Cochrane GM. A double-blind comparison of naproxen with indomethacin in osteoarthritis. *Scand J Rheumatol.* 1973;2(suppl):89-93.
- 109. Adams CD. Metoclopromide and depression. Ann Intern Med. 1985;103:960.
- 110. Feder R. Metoclopromide and depression. J Clin Psychiatry. 1987:48:38.
- 111. Oren DA. Dysphoria after treatment with ondansetron. Am J Psychiatry, 1995:152:1101.
- 112. Ambrose A, Salib E. Amiodarone-induced depression. Brit J Psychiatry. 1999;174:366-367.
- 113. Farmer P, Unis AS, Hsu G. Pemoline, depressive symptoms and escape from dexamethasone suppression. *J Clin Psychopharmacol*. 1983;3:331-332.
- 114. Rosenfeld AA. Depression and psychotic regression following prolonged methylphenidate use and withdrawal: case report. *Am J Psychiatry*. 1979;136:226-228.
- 115. Twerski B. Sympathomimetic-induced depression. Am J Psychiatry. 1987;144:252.
- 116. Kuehn BM. FDA warns of adverse events linked to smoking cessation drug and antiepileptics. *JAMA*. 2008;299(10):1121-1122.
- 117. U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Public Health Advisory: Important Information on Chantix (varenicline). Available at: http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/DrugSafety/PostmarketDrugSafetyInformationforPatientsandProviders/DrugSafetyInformationforHeathcareProfessionals/PublicHealthAdvisories/UCM051136. Posted 1 Feb 2008.
- 119. US Food and Drug Administration. FDA News: FDA proposes new warnings about suicidal thinking, behavior in young adults who take antidepressant medications. Available at:

 http://www.fda.gov/NewsEvents/Newsroom/PressAnnouncements/2007/ucm108905.htm. Posted 2 May 2007.

- 120. Blazer DG, Kessler RC, McGonagle KA, et al. The prevalence and distribution of major depression in a national community sample: the national comorbidity study. *Am J Psychiatry*. 1994;151:979-986.
- 121. Robins LN, Wing J, Wittchen HU, et al. One-month prevalence of mental disorders in the United States: based on 5 epidemiologic catchment area sites. *Arch Gen Psych.* 1988;45:1069-1077.
- 122. Keller S, Frishman WH. Neuropsychiatric effects of cardiovascular drug therapy. *Cardiol Rev.* 2003;11:73-93
- 123. Schildkraut JJ. Neuropharmacology and the affective disorders. N Engl J Med. 1969;281:302.
- 124. Maas JW. Biogenic amines and depression. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 1975;32:1357.
- 125. Beers MH, Passman CJ. Antihypertensive medications and depression. *Drugs*. 1990;40:792-799.
- 126. Sellinger-Barnett MM, Mendels J, Frazer A. The effect of psychotropic drugs on beta-adrenergic receptor binding in rat brain. *Neuropharmacology*. 1980;19:447-454.
- 127. Aarons RD, Nies AS, Gal J, et al. Elevation of α-adrenergic receptor density in human lymphocytes after propranolol administration. *J Clin Invest.* 1980;65:949-957.
- 128. Bremner JD, McCaffery P. The neurobiology of retinoic acid in affective disorders. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*. 2008;32:315-331.
- 129. Sherwin BB. Hormones, mood, and cognitive functioning in post-menopausal women. *Obstet Gynecol*. 1996;87(Suppl 2):20S-26S.
- 130. Sherwin BB, Suranyi-Cadotte BE. Up-regulatory effect of estrogen on 3H-imipramine binding sites in surgically menopausal women. *Biol Psychol.* 1990;28:339-348.
- 131. Jarkova NB, Martenyi F, Masanauskaite D, et al. Mood effect of raloxifene in postmenopausal women. *Maturitas*. 2002;42:71-75.
- 132. Adams PW, Rose DP, Folkard J, et al. Effect of pyridoxine hydrochloride (vitamin B6) upon depression associated with oral contraception. *Lancet*. 1973;1;897-904.
- 133. Smith S, Waterhouse BD, Chapin JK, et al. Progesterone alters GABA and glutamate responsiveness: a possible mechanism for it anxiolytic action. *Brain Res.* 1987;400:353-359.
- 134. Haskett RF. Diagnostic categorization of psychiatric disturbance in Cushing's Syndrome. Am J Psychiatry.
- 135. 1985:142:911-916.
- 136. Gerner RH, Wilkins JN. CSF cortisol in patients with depression, mania, or anorexia nervosa and in normal subjects. *Am J Psychiatry*. 1983;140:92-94.
- 137. Fernandez-Teruel A, Escorihuela RM, Boix F, et al. Imipramine and desipramine decreased the GABAstimulated chloride uptake, and antiGABAergic agents enhance their action in the forced swimming test in rats. *Neuropscyhobiology* 1990;23:147-152.
- 138. Prat JA, Jenner P, Johnson Al, et al. Anticonvulsant drugs alter plasma tryptophan concentrations in epileptic patients: implications for antiepileptic action and mental function. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. 1984;27:1131-1133.
- 139. Lambert MV, Robertson MM. Depression in epilepsy: etiology, phenomenology, and treatment. *Epilepsia*. 1999;40(suppl. 10):S21-S47.
- 140. Shimizu H, Ohtani K, Sato N, et al. Increases in serum interleukin-6, plasma ACTH and serum cortisol levels after systemic interferon-alpha administration. *J Endocrinol*. 1995;42:551-556.
- 141. Maes M, Wauters A, Verkerk R, et al. Lower l-tryptophan availability in depression: a marker of a more generalized disorder in protein metabolism. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. 1996; 15:243-251.
- 142. Kraus MR, Al-Taie O, Schafer A, et al. Serotonin-1A receptor gene HTR1A variation predicts interferoninduced depression in chronic hepatitis C. *Gastroenterol*. 2007;132:1279-1286.
- 143. Hays JT, Ebbert JO, Sood A. Efficacy and safety of varenicline for smoking cessation. *Am J Med.* 2008;121(4 Suppl 1):S32-42.
- 144. O'Donnell J. Overview of existing research and information linking isotretinoin, depression, psychosis and suicide. *Am J Ther.* 2003;10:148-159.
- 145. Warnock JK, Bundren JC, Morris DW. Sertraline in the treatment of depression associated with gonadotropinreleasing hormone agonist therapy. *Biol Psych.* 1998;43:464-465.
- 146. Jacoby A, Baker GA, Steen N, et al. The clinical course of epilepsy and its psychosocial correlates: findings from a U.K. community study. *Epilepsia*. 1996;37:148-161.
- 147. Victoroff JI, Benson DF, Engel J, et al. Interictal depression in patients with medically intractable complex partial seizures: electroencephalography and cerebral metabolic correlates [Abstract]. *Ann Neurol*. 1990:28:221.
- 148. Rabkin JE, Charles E, Kass F. Hypertension and DSM-III depression in psychiatric outpatients. *Am J Psychiatry*. 1983;140:1072-1074.

- 149. Zdilar D, Franco-Bronson K, Buchler N, et al. Hepatitis C, interferon alfa, and depression. *Hepatology*. 2000;31:1207-1211.
- 150. Hosaka T, Aoki T. Depression among cancer patients. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci*. 1996;50:309-312.
- 151. Sadovnick AD, Remick RA, Allen J, et al. Depression and multiple sclerosis. *Neurology*. 1996;46:628-632.
- 152. Patten SB. Psychopharmacology for the clinician psychopharmacologie pratique. *J Psychiatry Neurosci*. 2001:26:66.
- 153. Gutiérrez F, Navarro A, Padilla S, et al. Prediction of neuropsychiatric adverse events associated with longterm efavirenz therapy, using plasma drug level monitoring. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2005; 41:1648-1653.
- 154. Mula M, Trimble MR, Sander JWAS. The role of hippocampal sclerosis in topiramate-related depression and cognitive deficits in people with epilepsy. *Epilepsia*. 2003;44:1573-1577.
- 155. Marcellin P, Lau GKK, Zeuzem S, et al. Comparing the safety, tolerability and quality of life in patients with chronic hepatitis B vs chronic hepatitis C treated with peginterferon alpha-2a. *Liver Int.* 2008;28:477-485.
- 156. Robaeys G, DeBie J, Wichers MC, et al. Early prediction of major depression in chronic hepatitis C patients during peg-interferon α-2b treatment by assessment of vegetative-depressive symptoms after four weeks. *World J Gastroenterol.* 2007;13:5736-5740.
- 157. Kraus MR, Schafer A, Schottker K, et al. Therapy of interferon-induced depression in chronic hepatitis C with citalopram: a randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled study. *Gut.* 2008;57:531-536.
- 158. Wichers MC, Kenis G, Leue C, et al. Baseline immune activation as a risk factor for the onset of depression during interferon-alpha treatment. *Biol Psychiatry*. 2006;60:77-79.
- 159. Wells KB, Stewart A, Hays RD, et al. The functioning and well-being of depressed patients: results from the Medical Outcomes Study. *JAMA*. 1989;262:914-919.
- 160. Sabet-Sharghi F, Hutzler JC. Prophylaxis of steroid induced psychiatric syndromes. *Psychosomatics*. 1990;31:113-114.
- 161. Musselman DL, Lawson DH, Gumnick JF, et al. Paroxetine for the prevention of depression induced by high-dose interferon alfa. *N Engl J Med*. 2001;344:961-966.
- 162. Gleason OC, Fucci JC, Yates WR, et al. Preventing relapse of major depression during interferon-α therapy for hepatitis C: a pilot study. *Dig Dis Sci*. 2007;52:2557-2563.
- 163. Quarantini LC, Miranda-Scippa A, Schinoni MI, et al. Effect of amantadine on depressive symptoms in chronic hepatitis C patients treated with pegylated interferon: a randomized, controlled pilot study. *Clin Neuropharmacol*. 2006;29:138-143.
- 164. Yudofsky SC. Beta-blockers and depression: the clinician's dilemma. *JAMA*. 1992;267:1826-1827.
- 165. Gleason OC, Yates WR, Isbell MD, et al. An open-label trial of citalopram for major depression in patients with hepatitis C. *J Clin Psychiatry*. 2002;63:194-198.
- 166. Hauser P, Khosla J, Aurora H, et al. A prospective study of the incidence and open-label treatment of interferoninduced major depressive disorder in patients with hepatitis C. *Mol Psychiatry*. 2002;7:942-947.
- 167. Camacho A, Ng B, Methylphenidate for α-interferon induced depression. J Psychopharm. 2006:20:687-689.
- 168. Malek-Ahmadi P, Prabhu F. Venlafaxine for treatment of interferon alfa-induced depression. *Ann Pharmacother*. 2006;40:2075.
- 169. Davidson J. Seizures and bupropion: a review. J Clin Psychiatry. 1989;50:256-261.
- 170. Boegeli J, Baumann P. Inappropriate secretion of antidiuretic hormone and SSRIs. *Br J Psychiatry*. 1994;169:524-525.